
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/forestry/unff/unff10/
Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 13 No. 184 Wednesday, 17 April 2013

Earth Negotiations Bulletin
#8

UNFF10

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Tomilola Akanle Eni-ibukun, Ph.D., Tasha Goldberg, Kate 
Louw, Dorothy Wanja Nyingi, Ph.D., and Anna Schulz. The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon. The Editors are Deborah Davenport, Ph.D., and Pamela 
S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining 
Donors of the Bulletin are the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the German Federal Ministry for 
Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety 
(BMU), and the Government of Australia. General Support for the Bulletin during 2013 is provided by the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the 
New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry 
for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), and the United Nations 
Environment Programme (UNEP). Specific funding for coverage of this meeting has been provided by the Government of Turkey. Funding for 
translation of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the Government of France, the Belgium Walloon Region, Québec, and the International 
Organization of the Francophone (OIF and IEPF). Funding for translation of the Bulletin into Turkish has been provided by the Government of Turkey. The opinions expressed 
in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications 
with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at 
<kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11D, New York, NY 10022 USA. The ENB team at UNFF10 can be contacted by e-mail at <anna@iisd.org>.

http://enb.iisd.mobi/

UNFF10 HIGHLIGHTS:
TUESDAY, 16 APRIL 2013

UNFF10 continued on Tuesday, 16 April. In the morning, 
plenary addressed the Forum Trust Fund and heard a briefing 
on budgetary and legal matters. In the morning and afternoon, 
the Working Groups continued their readings of the zero drafts 
of their decision text. WGI completed its first reading of text 
on: assessment of progress made on the implementation of 
the Forest Instrument and towards the achievement of the four 
GOFs; regional and subregional inputs; forests and economic 
development; and enhanced cooperation and policy and 
programme coordination. WGII completed the first reading 
of text on emerging issues and MoI. Under WGII, informal 
consultations on issues relating to the AHEG and global forest 
fund, continued into the evening.

PLENARY
FORUM TRUST FUND: UNFF10 Chair Mario Ruales 

Carranza introduced this agenda item. UNFF Director 
Jan McAlpine presented an overview of the Note by the 
Secretariat on the UN Trust Funds to Support the UNFF (E/
CN.18/2013/13). She listed the voluntary contributions received 
from Member States to the Trust Fund in the biennium 2011-
2012, outlining how the funds were spent. UNFF Director 
McAlpine described the Secretariat’s staffing situation as 
“precarious” due to budget shortfalls and called for enhanced 
contributions from Member States.

Ivan Koulov, DESA, outlined, inter alia, the costs of holding 
meetings in New York, Nairobi and Vienna, including UN staff 
travel, conference services and supporting the attendance of 
developing country experts. He concluded that meeting costs 
will likely be US$100,000 cheaper in New York than in Vienna, 
and US$150,000 cheaper than Nairobi. 

Stadler Trengove, UN Office of Legal Affairs, explained 
the meaning of an open-ended AHEG, saying membership 
would be open to all States and Major Groups. He noted that 
it is up to the UNFF to decide on the AHEG’s modalities and 
mandates. Regarding options for independent expert reviews of 
UN entities, he presented possible options, including: the Joint 
Independent Unit; the Board of Auditors; and the Independent 
Audit Advisory Committee.

In the subsequent discussions, delegates commented on 
issues, including: the cost of meeting in New York versus 
Nairobi; the Programme Budget Implication (PBI) of tasks 
expected to be assigned to the Secretariat in UNFF10 
resolutions; the need to formally reflect funds spent by 
countries on CLIs; the need to indicate clear priorities for 
the Secretariat’s work over the next biennium; the meaning 

of “intergovernmental” in the context of an AHEG; the legal 
implications of commissioning an independent review of the 
IAF; and the call for additional contributions to the Trust Fund, 
and the need to balance available financial resources with 
expectations of work.

Responding to comments, Koulov explained that the extra 
cost of conference services, including translation for meetings 
held outside of New York, exceeded savings from the lower 
flight costs and daily subsistence allowance for Nairobi. He 
clarified that PBIs are not presented to Subsidiary Bodies.

Trengove explained the significance of “intergovernmental” 
indicating that Major Groups are welcome, but cannot vote or 
challenge rulings. 

WORKING GROUP I
On mobilizing resources for forests and economic 

development (OP2), Indonesia, for the G-77/CHINA, proposed 
adding text (OP2 bis-ter) on strengthening collaboration, 
cooperation, and regional and subregional processes. Ireland, for 
the EU, and SWITZERLAND raised concern with the balance 
between national and donor community funding sources, and 
proposed (OP2 quart) highlighting forests in a green economy. 

On enhancing cooperation (OP3), the G-77/CHINA added 
“North-South” and “triangular cooperation,” and several 
delegates proposed expanding database and knowledge 
networks.

On the CPF assisting countries in assessing non-market 
values of forest products and services (OP4), the EU provided 
alternative text on measuring the economic value of non-wood 
services (OP4 alt). SWITZERLAND underscored assistance for 
gathering robust data and sharing lessons. The G-77/CHINA 
suggested additional text on developing non-market based 
approaches.

On CPF member assistance in harmonizing ongoing 
initiatives on forest valuation (OP5), the EU and the US noted 
valuation is not sufficiently developed to allow harmonization.

On collaboration with the CPF on criteria and indicators for 
SFM and ways of addressing information and data gaps (OP6a), 
the EU said such collaboration should include other UN bodies. 
The G-77/CHINA provided additional text to this effect (OP6a 
bis).

On building partnerships with financial institutions (OP6b), 
the EU, with SWITZERLAND, said the scope of the mandate 
was too large for the UNFF Secretariat.

On implementing and reporting on the Forest Instrument 
and achieving the four GOFs (OP7), the EU suggested 
acknowledging progress. The G-77/CHINA called for supporting 
capacity building, technology transfer and financial resources to 
enhance efforts. 



Wednesday, 17 April 2013   Vol. 13 No. 184  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

On reporting to UNFF11 (OP8), SWITZERLAND called 
for clearly contextualizing the IAF review process. On donor 
support for implementation and reporting efforts (OP9), the EU 
and SWITZERLAND remarked on ongoing discussions on MoI 
in WGII.

On opportunities for the UNFF Secretariat to incorporate 
the Forest Instrument in the work programmes of the CPF 
organizations (OP10d), SWITZERLAND, supported by the 
EU and the US, called for deleting the text, reserving this 
responsibility for Member States or the CPF. 

On encouraging inputs to the UNFF from organizations, 
processes and Major Groups (OP11), the EU suggested deleting 
the request for donor countries and CPF organizations to support 
these efforts.

On inviting CPF collaboration in streamlining reporting 
(OP12a), the EU supported broadening the scope to promote 
consistency. The G-77/CHINA bracketed the paragraph pending 
informal consultations.

On strengthening the UNFF Secretariat’s effectiveness to 
engage Major Groups (OP13a), the G-77/CHINA suggested 
reference to relevant stakeholders, including indigenous peoples 
and local communities. 

SWITZERLAND suggested that the CPF, rather than the 
UNFF Secretariat, be charged with fostering synergies among 
forest-related activities and programmes to promote SFM 
(OP13b).

On developing communication tools on the contribution of 
forests’ importance to urban communities (OP13c), the EU 
suggested that the UNFF Secretariat collaborate with the CPF 
and FAO, with the US saying this is a task for Member States.

On promoting inclusion of forests in the post-2015 
development agenda (OP13d), the EU suggested waiting for the 
outcome of the discussion on emerging issues in WGII.

On encouraging and organizing the International Day 
of Forests (OP14), the G-77/CHINA suggested noting the 
contribution of forests to protecting the integrity of Mother 
Earth. The EU proposed (OP14 alt) noting UN General 
Assembly resolution A/RES/67/200 and thereby removing the 
need to define the UNFF Secretariat’s role in facilitating the 
celebration (OP15). 

WGI Co-Chair Masinja closed the first reading of the zero 
draft, reiterating that all proposals on text must be sent to the 
Secretariat by 7pm on Tuesday. She said the second reading of 
the draft resolution would commence on Wednesday morning.

WORKING GROUP II
MoI: On actions at all levels (MoI OP3), the US and the EU 

suggested strengthening transfer of ESTs “on mutually agreed 
terms and conditions” and the EU proposed inviting Member 
States and stakeholders to use market-based approaches to 
develop and promote production and consumption of forest 
products from sustainably-managed forests, harvested according 
to domestic legislation, as a way to mobilize additional 
resources and increase tax revenues for governments.

SWITZERLAND, with the US, cautioned against deleting 
text on data collection (MoI OP4d alt), saying that if Member 
States ask for more financial and other assistance, there should 
be sufficient data to establish baselines on forest resources. The 
EU proposed including text on harnessing the potential of the 
private sector to finance SFM (MoI OP4f).

On text inviting the GEF to consider establishing a new 
focal area on forests in GEF-6 (MoI OP7), SWITZERLAND, 
supported by the EU and the US, urged retaining the notion of 
“inviting the GEF to consider.” Ghana, for the G-77/CHINA, 

favored “calling upon the GEF to establish a dedicated new 
focal area for SFM.” SWITZERLAND, opposed by SAUDI 
ARABIA, underlined that establishing such a window should 
only take place once a legally-binding instrument has been 
established.

On financing for SFM, the EU proposed (MoI OP10 bis-quat) 
encouraging: the FAO to further develop its work; the private 
sector to consider improving information on the scale of private 
investments; and the UNFF Secretariat to improve data sources 
on public financing. The G-77/CHINA proposed (MoI OP11 alt) 
calling on developed countries and conventions to increase their 
contributions to SFM.

The G-77/CHINA, with CUBA, SOUTH AFRICA, 
CAMEROON, SAUDI ARABIA, GABON, CHINA, 
GUATEMALA, TURKEY and ECUADOR, favored language 
calling on UNFF10 to establish a global forest fund (MoI 
OP12). The EU, the US, SWITZERLAND, JAPAN, CANADA, 
NEW ZEALAND and NORWAY urged retaining original 
language calling for consideration of establishing a voluntary 
global forest fund. NEW ZEALAND cautioned that the 
discussions so far have not demonstrated the need for a global 
forest fund. 

EMERGING ISSUES: SWITZERLAND requested 
an additional preambular paragraph (EI PP0) recalling the 
ECOSOC decision in which the UNFF decided that the IAF’s 
effectiveness will be reviewed in 2015. On emphasizing the 
interconnections of the post-2015 development agenda, Rio+20 
follow-up and UNFF11 themes (EI PP4), the EU called for 
coordinating with the discussions of similar paragraphs under 
WGI. He proposed (EI PP4 bis-ter) recognizing the need for 
broader measures of progress to complement Gross Domestic 
Product in order to better inform policy decisions, and noting 
that MDG indicator 7-1 (the proportion of land area covered by 
forests) has continued to evolve negatively at the global level. 
MOROCCO suggested noting the work on forest financing 
undertaken by the UN Secretary-General’s High-Level Advisory 
Group on Climate Change Financing.

The Co-Chairs proposed, and delegates agreed, to undertake 
informal consultations, co-facilitated by South Africa and New 
Zealand, on the paragraphs relating to the AHEG (EI OP3-8 
and MoI OP12). The informal consultations started immediately 
and delegates will commence the second reading of the draft 
resolution on Wednesday morning.

IN THE CORRIDORS
As the seventh day of UNFF10 convened, the first readings 

of the draft decisions continued. Many delegates expressed 
exasperation at the long and tedious nature of the coordination 
meetings and informal consultations taking place, which were 
seen to be hampering progress. Rifts within negotiating blocs 
and regional groups were exposed as countries that normally 
saw eye-to-eye began to take opposing positions. Even though 
concessions were made to reflect ideologies in the negotiating 
text, there was still disparity on some substantial issues. The 
spirit of mutual support seemed to evolve towards breaking out 
into smaller factions on specific issues, rather than remaining in 
existing negotiating blocs. 

WGII on MoI tried to resolve these rifts by establishing an 
informal consultation group to address issues on the global 
forest fund and the process for undertaking the 2015 review of 
the IAF. However, some delegates felt that capacity building 
and support for technology transfer were still being undermined. 
One frustrated delegate could be heard saying “if education is 
expensive, then let’s try ignorance instead.”



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


